A History of B Mason & Sons

Copper/copper alloy strip manufacturers, Wharf Street, Aston

Chapter One
 Introduction

B Mason and Sons Ltd. celebrates 150 years in the business of metal rolling in 2002. 

Benjamin Mason founded the Company in 1852. Benjamin learned the trade of metal rolling working in the steam and water powered rolling mills that supplied non-ferrous strip for local industry. 

He eventually decided to set up in the trade on his own account and took over the Thimble Mill at Aston to roll brass alloys into strip. His tenancy at this mill was brief, as land in nearby Wharf Street was leased in 1859 for the construction of a new rolling mill. Once the buildings were completed production was transferred from Thimble Mill to their new steam-powered rolling mills. These mills, which became known as the Aston Manor Rolling Mills, occupy a small, but central portion of the present works.

The Aston Manor Rolling Mills supplied rolled strip for many local trades. They included the badge, button and medal industries. Spoon blanks were also produced for the cutlery trade. Output by modern standards was small, but there was a regular demand for their product and so business flourished. B Mason was numbered amongst a group of other firms who traded as rolled metal manufacturers. It was an industry that was concentrated in the West Midlands where non-ferrous metals were worked up into a final product by a myriad of trades. 

Whenever a metal had to be pressed or stamped into shape, the common form of supply was as strip or sheet. The rolled metal makers specialised in the production of this sheet or strip to the needs of the customers in whatever metal or alloy that was required. It was their job to find the copper, lead, nickel, tin and zinc, mix them to the required alloy composition and then roll the metal down to the appropriate thickness.   

Some manufacturers incorporated metal rolling into their business and would make finished products from raw material, but there was still sufficient demand from the smaller undertakings to support the independent rolled metal manufacturer. Thus, B Mason and Sons went on from year to year, meeting the local demand.

Until 1917 control of the Company remained with the Mason family when it was then, passed to the Shaw family. The Aston Manor Rolling Mills became a useful complement to their existing metal reclamation trade. 

It was during the Shaw period that electricity replaced steam to drive the mills. But, Mason was still a very small fish in a big pool of over forty non-ferrous rolling mills. 

When traditional markets eventually began to dwindle, competition in the rolled metal trade began to become more severe. After 1960, mills were closing at a rate of about one a year. 

Aston Manor Rolling Mills were reconstructed and fitted out with modern rolling equipment. Integral to the new operation was the semi-continuous horizontal casting process that produced strip from molten metal in one stage. 

In 1969 B Mason & Sons Ltd. was the first UK Company to adopt semi-continuous horizontal casting.
Sites were acquired and other properties were subsequently purchased until Masons came to own most of Wharf Street and the lower part of Portland Street. 

B Mason & Sons Ltd had now more than doubled its original site, but further changes were to come. During 1988, a German Company, Wieland-Werke AG, acquired Mason and instituted further re-equipment. Additional land was also purchased so that the Mason property now extended the full length of the canal side of Wharf Street and a major re-equipment process began.
In the late 1990's, the remaining properties on the north side of Wharf Street were purchased and Wharf Street was closed as a public highway.  

A new building was erected on the north side of Wharf Street to house new offices and the finishing operations of slitting, packing and despatch.  

Chapter 2
 The History of Metal Rolling in Birmingham

The origins of metal rolling are complicated.  The techniques were first adopted for non-ferrous metals and later adapted for iron and steel. It has been stated that a Frenchman, Brulier, developed a process in 1553 for producing gold and silver coins of uniform thickness. The metal was passed between two revolving smooth rolls.  

Over the years the principle was developed where malleable metals could be rolled into sheets by the passage of the metal between a pair rolls, each revolving in opposite directions. The purpose of the exercise was to produce a sheet of uniform thickness. The distance between the rolls being less than the thickness of the original metal, achieved the desired result.
A whole new industry grew up around the iron rolling mill, where a range of different products that included plates, sheets, rails and hoops were produced. Within the greater Birmingham area there were demands for both precious and non- precious rolled non-ferrous metals by the badge, button, jewellery and medal trades. The making of steel pens had just commenced in Birmingham and was also rapidly developing into an important local industry.

Power for metal rolling was commonly obtained through the use of a water wheel. The first steam-powered rolling mill in Birmingham is believed to have belonged to James Pickard, at Snow Hill.  Here an atmospheric engine was tried for the first time in 1779. 

The atmospheric steam engine was an invention of Thomas Newcomen and its principal purpose was to drain mines. These engines were at first, only capable of reciprocating motion, which meant that the action was limited to movement, forward and backward, along a specific line of direction. A rolling mill required “rotative” motion to drive the respective metal rollers. Pickard’s Mill used an engine of the Newcomen type that drove the mill by a rack and pinion device. This experiment did not work well and in 1780 a crank arrangement was substituted. 

Improvements to steam design by notable local firms such as Boulton & Watt led to the increased use of steam powered rolling mills during the C19th, but the water powered mill continued to have an important role. People whom had steam power had to suffer the costs of maintenance, licences and fuel. Water mill owners faced fewer overheads, but the problem of water supply often restricted operations. Eventually steam engines came to be installed at the water rolling mills to ensure production would not be affected when the stream ran dry.

Moor Green Mills, changed hands in 1841, when Charles Humpage, a metal roller from Gravelley Hill took over the property. The mill had been formerly used as a Blade Mill, but was now converted to roll metals. An inventory of stock made in March 1857 mentions that the rolling mill plant was now powered by steam and water. Pairs of rolls ranging in diameter from 3ft 2in down to 12 inches are recorded. There were also “spoon blank” rolls, wire splitting rolls and chilled rolls.
The companies in the Birmingham area then engaged in rolling metal included the following:

Hannah Biggs, Steel Roller, Pitsford Street

Birmingham Battery and Metal Company, 80 Digbeth

Charles Clifford, Fazeley Street

William Cooper, 293 Bradford Street

Allan Everitt & Son, Adderley Street

Hughes & Evans, Court 39, High Street, Deritend

Paul Moore & Co, Great Lister Street

Samuel Walker Junior, Deritend Rolling Mill

John Wilkes, Liverpool Street, Deritend.

Working conditions in these days must have been hazardous and the remuneration would have been little for very long hours of work. Even in 1865 children as young as 9 years old were working at least 11 hours per day. The following extracts from a local newspaper give some insight into the level of education, hours of work and wages of children at this time.

Reproduced from Birmingham Daily Gazette Thursday February 16th 1865

Of Clifford’s Rolling Mills, Fazeley Street, Mr White says the building wants light, but the nature of the work secures ample space. Blocks of metal are passed through rollers, men putting it in and taking it out. 

If the metal is hot the boys secure it with tongs and heave it back over the top of the roller to the men. The work requires strength and care, the weight often being one cwt and the metal red-hot. 

The regular hours of work are from 6am until 5pm, but the work is sometimes carried on for a longer time. Until 7 ½ counts a quarter day, till 9 counts half a day, till 11 three quarters of a day, till 1 a.m. a whole day; and till 5 ½ a.m a day and a quarter. 

A boy of 14 years of age said “I stay all night once every week with him with the billycock there, cleaning metal or pickling. When I stay all night I get three hours sleep lying on the strips of metal on the rack there. I get on very middling with my work the next day after working at night ……” 

… A lad of 11 years of age said “I have stopped till nine every night for several weeks together, work over almost every night. Have worked all night through after working the days too-did last Friday night. One or two boys stay nights beside me…."

Mr S Walker Metal Rollers, Fazeley Street 

“These works are the same kind as the last, but newer looking and lighter." Mr Samuel Walker Junior “The work here is rolling brass and copper sheets, making brazed tubes, and drawing tubes and wire. No lads work in the wire mill or at the hot rolling as it is so hot and heavy and would be too much for them. Even men, when they are fresh to it, can’t stand it, and knock up. 

We are very free from accidents; I do not remember any from machinery for many years, except from carelessness in getting fingers into rollers &c. One boy put his foot into some machinery. The hours are never exceeded. There would be no great difficulty in having two sets of boys. Stoppages in the machinery often happen. Many are very ignorant and drink, and think no more of what is to come to them when they die than anything.”   

Frank Bennett, aged 11: “Hold tubes in a muffle to be soldered. It is very hot work. My shirt sticks to my back now. Have my meals in the shop here. Don’t wash here ever, but do at home. Have done money sums, long division and multiplication.”

Tom Glover, aged 10: “Same work. My arm is tied up, because I burnt it by falling against the hot bars in the muffle.”- His fall was occasioned by the awkwardness of his standing place. Directions were given to have it altered.

Henry Aston, aged 11: “Think I am 11. Mind machinery pliers for drawing tubes. Work from 6 to 5 ½ . Breakfast here, dine at home. Work with uncle, he reckons for me, gets 4s a week. And sometimes 1d or 1 ½d out of it for myself. Do not go to Sunday or night school now; perhaps I shall. Father says he shall buy me some clothes, and shall go to night school and all.”

Frederick Sheen, aged 10; “Work in the coal yard. Have been at the day school and can read, write and do arithmetic and addition. Arithmetic, is very much like addition, but the sums are not addition.”

William Hateley, aged 13. “Have been at work two or three years, but always gone to night school four nights a week paying 6d. Father is a caster. Can read and write. (Mr Walker said “as well as anyone”), can sum”, (Explains multiplication rightly).

Frederick Pimble, aged 14: “Don’t know any of the letters. At Sunday school this year, not before. Was at day school 3 years till I was 9 years old, but they did not learn me anything.”

Robert Edward Motteram, aged 10: “Wire strips of metal in sawdust. Was never at school, not on Sunday even. Don’t know any of the letters. Could not tell it (A) if were to see it. Was never inside a church or chapel. Never say or was taught any prayers. Grandmother says some. She told me about Jesus Christ, but I know nothing of him. It was a good while since she told me. He was nailed on the cross for us.”

By the time Benjamin Mason was born, the rolling of metals both ferrous and non-ferrous, was an established trade throughout Birmingham and the Black Country. With his family background it is likely that he was working under similar conditions to the children quoted.

Chapter 3
The Thimble Mill Area
The River Rea and Aston Brook supported a number of water mills, which were used for different purposes. The Thimble Mill drew water from Aston Brook, a small stream that ran through Soho, Hockley and Hockley Brook before passing into Aston. 

Upstream from Thimble Mill was Aston Manor Mills, who produced flour, whilst downstream was Benton’s Mill. The Thimble Mill is shown on Tomlinson’s 1758 map of Aston close to Nechells Green. It was also sometimes known as as Nechells, or Nechells Green, Mill.

The land was owned by the Holte family but after Lister Holte’s death, it was administered by Heneage Legge. The lease of the mill to John Rose, was dated March 25th, 1801.  

The draft lease mentions the fact that the mill had been let to Samuel Birch, but after his decease it was re-let to William Hunt, Harry Hunt and Thomas Jones, who were merchants and co-partners. The Hunt lease dated from August 9th 1773. On November 29th 1800 William Hunt assigned the Mill to John Rose Metal Roller and the March 1801 lease ratified this agreement.

John Rose had already taken possession of the rolling mill. The advertisement, which confirmed the change appeared in Aris’s Gazette in June 1800: -

Neachell’s Mill, Aston, Near Birmingham

JOHN ROSE, Refiner, Caster, Plater, Roller and Dealer in all kinds of rolled Metals, Silver, Gold, &c takes this opportunity of respectfully informing the Merchants, Factors, and Manufacturers of Birmingham, that he has purchased the thimble trades, tools, and apparatus thereto belonging, of Messr W & H Hunt, and also Messr Walker and Simcox, and that he continues to make every kind of thimble in gold, silver, copper, brass, steel, and iron, as heretofore manufactured by them.

Applications at his Warehouse, Great Charles Street, Birmingham, will be attended to: and where may be had any quantity of excellent plated, gilding, and dipping metal, also blanks for buttons, either stamped or edged, or from the press, thimble blanks and raised thimbles, and every kind and quality of double and single plated metal used by manufacturers of plated wares; also fine silver plated with gold, suitable for all and every kind of fine toy, and takes in return either silver, gold, copper, brass, or wasted plated, gilding, and dipping metal.

N.B. The most ready money given for fine silver, copper, brass, or any sort of waste plated, gilding; or dipping metal.

The water mill works efficiently when a good supply of water is maintained to the mill pool. The supply from Aston Brook was not always sufficient and during 1806, a water supply dispute arose between John Rose and Thomas and William Phillips, who leased the Aston Brook Flour Mills. Richard Fowler was appointed arbitrator who produced a report on the matter March 21st 1806. 

Fowler’s recommendations concerned the height of weirs and provision of sluice gates. There was also a time consideration where the Aston Brook Mill was to be worked through the night, whilst the Thimble Mill was allowed to draw water for their use during the daytime. Amongst the requirements placed on John Rose was the repair of the weir, known as Doctor’s Weir near the dam of the pool belonging to the mill. The paddle in the weir was not to exceed 8 inches in height and this was to be kept in place between 5.00pm and 9.00am. At other times it could be raised for the working the mill. Both Rose and Phillips were charged with cleansing the brook. Phillip’s responsibility extended to the hedge beyond Aston Road Bridge; whilst Rose had to keep the brook clear from the meadow hedge as far as Nechells Mill. 

John Rose died prior to 1815 and Henry Rose and Thomas Shepley, who were executors of his will, subsequently carried on the metal rolling business. An abstract of various estates belong to Lister Holte for this date refers to the house, Thimble Mill and pool were in the tenancy of the executors of John Rose. From September 1815 Henry Rose became the sole proprietor of Nechell’s Mill, where he continued the trade of caster and rollers of metal and thimble maker 5. By 1833 the estate was in the possession of Mrs Rose. The mill is shown on Fowlers map of Aston, which was produced in 1833. This map shows that the mill pool had been extended and the mill buildings moved back to the Thimble Mill Lane. 

The Thimble Mill was sold to Edward Middleton during 1834. The indenture describes the estate as comprising a dwelling house, garden, sheds, outbuildings and a water mill, now used as a rolling mill (called the Thimble Mill). There were also several warehouses, a workshop, all once in the occupation of Henry Rose and lately owned by Samuel Emery.  Seven messuages also belonged to the estate.

The 1854 poor rate for Duddeston & Nechells records David Pratt as occupier and Edward Middleton owner. Rates were paid on a house, mill, heads & fall of water, engine, shop and garden for a property, which amounted to 1 acre, 2 roods and 35 perches in total area. 

A pencil annotation had crossed out the name David Pratt and substituted Samuel Walker and this too had been scored through with the name Benjamin Mason written above. The next rate book for Duddeston & Nechells (1856) records Benjamin Mason as occupier, whilst Edward Middleton remained the owner. The mill estate included various cottages, one of which was occupied by Benjamin and his family. He would have probably moved there when he occupied the mill and was certainly there by October 1858, when the baptism of James Mason was recorded. James, his second son and fourth child, is the first of his children to be baptised at Aston Parish Church.
Chapter 3
The Mason Family, 1758-1851
The registers of St Nicholas Church, Kings Norton make frequent mention of the Mason name.  Most, if not all, belonged to the labouring classes. Some, notably a William Mason, was stated to be a "pauper" when his children were baptised. 

The origins of the Mason dynasty begin with John Mason who married Ester Palmer. They had a number of children, including John who was baptised on January 20th 1758. Later baptismal entries mention children born to a John and Sarah Mason, the “John” being presumably the son of John & Ester. Their son “John” was baptised at St Nicolas Church on September 11th, 1785. He died young and was buried in the churchyard on April 22nd 1787.  The burial entry records that he was the son of John Mason (pauper). Sarah Mason had died previously. She is recorded as Sarah Mason wife of John, buried July 13th 1786. 

On June 29th, 1788 the St Nicholas Baptism Register recorded the baptism of Mary (base born to Ursula Barrett, Pauper). John Mason (widower) married Ursula Barrett at St Nicolas Church on March 7th, 1789. On September 6th, 1789 John, son of John and Ursula Mason was baptised.  It is the John Mason, baptised 1789, who can be identified with John Mason father of Benjamin Mason. This “John” married Elizabeth (Betsey) Manning at St Nicholas Church. 

John Mason was a bricklayer by trade. Five, or six, of his children can be traced through parish records. Benjamin was the youngest member of the family.

St Laurence, Northfield - Baptisms

December 27th 1818
William son of John and Betsey Mason (Kings Norton) Bricklayer

December 27th 1818
Charlotte daughter of John & Betsey Mason (Kings Norton) Bricklayer

(Parish records record baptisms, but less frequently mention the date of birth. Families, particularly the poorer families, sometimes elected to have more than one child baptised together. So two or more children might be baptised on the same day even though their respective dates of births were different.)
St Nicholas, Kings Norton - Baptisms

January 14th 1821
Charlotte daughter of John (Bricklayer)

April 9th, 1826

James son of John (Mason)

April 9th, 1826

John son of John (Mason) 

September 9th 1826
Benjamin son of John (Bricklayer) 
It seems that Benjamin Mason’s mother died shortly after he was born, and possibly in child birth. She was buried in St Nicholas churchyard, on September 12th, 1826, aged 32 years. John Mason later remarried on April 5th 1829 and his second wife was widow Mary Ann Dipple. Benjamin’s formative years were therefore spent with his stepmother. 

John Mason, the father, continued to earn a living as a Bricklayer. By 1841, when the Census was taken, John Mason was living with his family at Stirchley Street, which was a hamlet located along the northern perimeter of Kings Norton Parish. Benjamin Mason was then 14 years of age. 

Two of Benjamin’s brothers, John and William, can be traced on the 1841 census; they lived locally and were recorded as bricklayers. On the 1851 census James was also recorded as a bricklayer but Benjamin was recorded as a metal roller.

Chapter 4
Benjamin Mason’s Early Years

Why Benjamin Mason chose to become a metal roller has yet to be determined as his father and brothers were all bricklayers. A cousin, Thomas Mason, may have helped Benjamin enter the rolling mill trade as he was a metal roller, who lived in the St Martins District of Birmingham during the late 1820’s and 1830’s. 

Stirchley Street, where Benjamin Mason grew up, bordered on the parishes of Edgbaston, Kings Norton, Northfield and Yardley. The River Rea passed through this district to Birmingham and then Aston before discharging into the River Tame near Salford Bridge. The power of the Rea was harnessed at strategic points to drive water mills. Three Mills, all located within walking distance of Stirchley Street, Dogpool, Lifford and Moor Green, were used to roll metal at one time.  The Clifford family, who also operated steam-powered rolling mills in Fazeley Street, Birmingham, then worked Dogpool Mills (later known as Charles Clifford).

Birmingham had several steam powered rolling mills during this period where Thomas could have worked and it may be that through his connection with this trade that Benjamin secured a job as a metal roller.
By December 1849 Benjamin Mason was living at High Street, Bordesley and his occupation was recorded as a “roller” at the time of the baptism of his first daughter, Priscilla. Benjamin was still living in High Street when the 1851 census was taken; his home was located amongst the back- to-back houses in Court 28.

Records from 1851 Census

High Street Court 28, Bordesley

Benjamin Mason, Head
Age 24
Steel and metal roller Born Kings Norton, Worcestershire

Mary Ann Mason, Wife
Age 20 
Born Sutton Cheney, Leicestershire

Priscilla Mason,    Daughter Age 2
Born Birmingham, Warwickshire

Pamela Mason,    Daughter Age 6 mths, Born Birmingham, Warwickshire

Joseph Satchwell, labourer and wife Mary, lived as lodgers at the same address. 

It is less likely that he was self-employed at this stage. It is more reasonable to assume that others employed him. There were a number of metal rolling mills established in the Digbeth and Bordesley area, which might have employed Benjamin Mason. 

When William Benjamin Mason was born (9th December 1854), his birth certificate still records the family address as 28 Court, High Street, within the district of Deritend. The course of the River Rea marked the boundary between Birmingham and Aston.  The road called Digbeth became High Street after the river crossing into the parish of Aston. 

Benjamin, the metal roller, lived in relatively poor accommodation amidst this densely populated part of the town. Matters began to change within twelve months when he moved to Duddeston.

In later times, B. Mason & Sons advertisements state that the company business was established in 1852. Benjamin Mason is first recorded as a Rolling Mill proprietor in the Birmingham Trade Directory for 1856. This lists his name as proprietor of the Nechells Green Rolling Mill in Thimblemill Lane. 

Chapter 5
The Aston Manor Rolling Mills 1859-1917

Benjamin Mason acquired a lease for new premises in Wharf Street, Aston in May 1859 and set about the fitting out of a new rolling mill there. There was a clause within the lease, which gave Benjamin Mason the option to purchase after 10 years. Benjamin decided to take up this option in December 1868.  Benjamin continued to occupy a house at Thimblemill Lane until at least April 1861, when he is recorded living here on the Census. 
Entry from 1861 Census

 2 Rolling Mill Yard

Name




Age
Occupation
Born

Benjamin Mason Head, 
Married  
37
Metal Roller     Kings, Norton, Worcestershire

Mary Ann Mason

Wife

34

           Sutton Cheney, Leicestershire

Priscilla Mason

Daughter
12

           Birmingham, Warwickshire

Pamela Mason

Daughter
11

           Birmingham, Warwickshire

Elizabeth Mason

Daughter
9

           Birmingham, Warwickshire

William Mason

Son

7

           Birmingham, Warwickshire

James Mason

Son

4

           Aston, Warwickshire

Rose Mason

Daughter
7 months
           Aston, Warwickshire

Elizabeth Harris

Mother-in-Law
63

           Sutton Cheney, Leicestershire 

The rolling mill business was transferred to Wharf Street and the Thimblemill was re-let. By 1863 this Mill is recorded in the ownership of the Harris family, who were gun barrel makers.

Benjamin Mason had married Mary Ann Harris and it is significant that her mother, Elizabeth, should be living at the mill with them in 1861, as it helps to confirm the roots of Benjamin’s wife. Mary Ann was born in Sutton Cheney in Leicestershire. The local parish church records mention the marriage of John Harris to Elizabeth Bingham in 1823 and subsequently record the baptisms of James, William and Mary Ann Harris there. The connection with Alfred Harris is not yet apparent, if one ever existed. However the Harris family continued to be associated with Thimble Mill for a number of years thereafter. A beam engine continued to work about 8 pairs of rolls there up to 1918.

Operating the Mills
The site was quickly adapted for the business of rolling metals and Benjamin appears to have transferred his work from the Thimble Mill during 1859. Kelly’s Birmingham Directory for 1860 lists Mason as a Metal Roller in Wharf Street, Aston. The Thimble Mill premises were probably unoccupied between 1860 and 1863, although Benjamin and his family still lived there until 1861.

By 1861 the Wharf Street Rolling mills comprised a house, office, mill, engines, furnaces, stable and wharf land.  

When Benjamin Mason traded as a metal roller, traditional methods had been adopted for generations. The basic equipment involved the use of metal rolls. Paired rolls of varying diameter and surface fulfilled various functions within the metal rolling process.

The metal, often in ingot form, would be repetitively passed, hot, through the breaking down rolls until it was flattened to a slab shape. Rough, or intermediate rolling, could then follow, where the metal was reduced to strip or sheet thickness. Finally the metal was passed through a set of finishing rolls, which completed the rolling process. Both hot and cold rolling was used to produce the finished product.  During the various stages, the metal would be re-heated, or annealed, and pickled in acid.

Each stage of the process was labour intensive. Each rolling mill had its share of general labourers and “rollers”. There would also be the engineer who was responsible for working the steam engine. The metal rollers job was physically demanding as it involved passing the metal back and forward through the rolls.

With improving technology rolling mills became more complex. Three and four high rolling mills came to be used in the larger rolling establishments. There were also cluster mills and reversing mills. In the latter case the metal could be processed through the mill in both directions.

Benjamin Mason would have started as a metal roller and learnt the skills of that art over a period of time. It is unlikely that the wages he earned would have been sufficient to finance a business venture on his own account, and may have been first in partnership with others.

The rolling mill could be part of a larger business undertaking or a separate business venture. Independent mills might purchase metal and sell the finished rolled product. These businessmen were, in fact, rolled metal manufacturers. Another option was the “hired” mill. In this case the metal was supplied to the mill for rolling to the specification laid down by the owner. The finished rolled metal was then returned to the owner together with any waste produced during the process. Some firms specialised in the “hired” mill trade, whilst others preferred to buy their own metal. Small firms like Benjamin Mason & Sons might undertake both roles.

When Benjamin Mason established the Aston Manor Rolling Mills in 1859, Birmingham and Aston were important brass making and brass-working centres. Brass, an alloy of copper and zinc, had a variety of uses in both the cast and rolled form.  Brass was used to make bedsteads, tubing, lamps and gas fittings. Brass also became an important component in the ammunition industry following the development of the cartridge case during the American Civil War.

By varying the percentage of copper to zinc, produces a metal alloy suitable for different purposes. Small amounts of tin or lead added to the variety. The various metal alloys had an equal number of varying trade names, which give some indication of the uses they were put to. They include terms like check brass, cutlery brass, shrapnel brass, clock case metal, spring brass, clock brass, watch brass and bell metal.

Mills, like Aston Manor, became part of a very complicated metal supply chain for the non-ferrous metal industry. The supply of brass, or similar alloys, came to form the bulk of their trade. 

The rolled metal producers would purchase metals in either the pure or scrap state. The metal would then be mixed and melted to form the desired alloy composition, then cast into a bar or ingot shape for rolling. 

Early details of Mason’s operations are vague, but after 1900 surviving account books record that they were purchasing both stocks of metal and scrap. Payments were received for both sale of rolled metal and for rolling metal. The separate entries for “rolling” appear to indicate that they rolled metals for other firms, as well as producing their own brand.

Other purchases included coal & coke, oil and vitriol (acid). Charges were also made for tonnage and carriage. Masons brought coal by boat to the rolling mills. Four boats are recorded in the Birmingham Canal Navigation gauging registers. The last, RENNIE, was gauged in 1903. Charges were also made by the railway companies, London & North Western, Midland and Great Western, for railway rates and land carriage from the local goods depots.

Mason also had a number of horses for which they needed to supply feed and gearing. Following the change of ownership and the takeover by the Shaw family, the horses and boats were disposed of and road vehicles purchased. Coal contractors such as A Comley, still supplied coal by boat to Mason Canal Wharf. 

A description of the mills published in 1910 provides a detailed explanation of the plant and methods of production. 

The firm of B Mason and Sons, Wharf Street Rolling Mills, Aston Manor, Birmingham, commend themselves to us in this article as being the proprietors of one of the old beam engines that were first originated by Watt. 

The date of this engine is 1824, the fly-wheel of which weighs 24 tons. That this mighty piece of mechanism is fully capable of performing its work is proved by the fact that it works rolling mills that exercise a pressure of over 10,000 tons upon the metal passing through them; in fact the enormous pressure they are capable of cannot be accurately gauged to a limit. 

At Mason and Son, brass is first manufactured and cast into ingots, weighing about a quarter of a hundredweight; from thence it goes through one rolling mill after another until it emerges a long, thin sheet of metal that can be rolled up like brown paper, During this process, however, it has to be annealed to preserve the metal’s homogeneity under such tremendous pressure. 

There are seven furnaces for this purpose, 30 feet long, all blown up by steam so as to make it impossible for any cold air to enter the furnace during the process of annealing. Messr. Mason and Sons make brass of two amalgams, 70% copper with 30% zinc, and 68% copper and 32% zinc. 

German silver is also manufactured for conversion into spoons and forks, by Mason and Sons, only the metal in this instance is not rolled so thin, and is then cut into strips of the necessary size by powerful cutting machines. These lengths of metal are stamped and cut into different shapes of the utensil, with intervals for annealing, until the final stage of cleaning with sulphuric acid is reached and they are despatched for the remaining processes of shaping and electroplating. The German silver is manufactured in three different grades, from 30 per cent nickel, downwards. 

Mason & Sons have their own boats on the canal, which adjoins the back of their manufactory, and brings their own coal in barges up to the wharf. As their consumption averages from 120 to 130 tons per week, the canal is a very valuable adjunct to the mills. 

They have their own fitting shop with powerful machinery and lathes for repairs, and make their own rollers, the strength and solidity of which may be imagined by the Herculean tasks they have to perform.

This article then went on to mention the stables, which were located on the opposite side of Wharf Street to the Mills. There was a five-stall stable and a cart building shop where they maintained the horse drawn carts once owned by the firm.

The plant inventory taken in 1916 after the formation of the limited company provides a useful indication of the business, Masons, were then involved in.

There was a casting shop with six iron bound brick built pot furnaces and an iron jib crane, which presumably would be used to lift the pots in and out of the furnaces. The existence of this shop provides proof that Mason’s melted metal together and cast the ingots for rolling. 

The Rolling Mill shop contained a number of rolls, which included breaking down and intermediate rolls. There was a power cutting press by John Hands & Son, cutting machines and shears and lead lined acid boshes. The pickle shop contained a lead lined and brick built bosh. Whilst in the yard were a pair of iron bound muffles (for annealing) and a pair of Lancashire boilers (to provide steam for the engine). The warehouse also contained another lead lined acid bosh and pairs of “chilled” finishing rolls.   

After 1920, metal purchases are recorded specifically as Copper and Spelter (Zinc). There is no mention of any nickel, or phosphor bronze, metal purchase at this time by Masons.  But, nickel was used at the Park Lane address to make nickel silver, and it seems the nickel silver alloy was rolled at the Aston Manor Rolling Mills. 

Both the Great Western Railway and London, Midland & Scottish Railway supplied Masons from their respective goods depots during the inter-war years. Fellows, Morton & Clayton and the Severn Canal Carrying Company also made deliveries. Both carried copper and spelter by canal, but probably delivered to Mason’s by road from their depots in central Birmingham.

Chapter 6
The Mason Family and Aston Manor Mills
Benjamin Mason rolling mill occupied a rectangular piece of land situated between Wharf Street and the Birmingham & Fazeley Canal. The frontage to Wharf Street was a mere 38 yards. 

Following the setting up of the Mills, Benjamin set about building up his business and evidently made a profit from this venture. He was able to acquire other property on the opposite side of Wharf Street, which extended to Portland Street. These important purchases were made in 1871 and 1874, but would be later sold on to Thomas Carlyle, Button Maker. 

By March 1881 Benjamin Mason was 54 years old, and a widower. The census finds him living at 13 Wharf Street with son William and daughter Rose. All other members of the family had moved away. 

The census also tells us that he employed 25 men and 12 boys as metal rollers. Benjamin Mason remarried on March 25th 1881. His new bride, Martha Carnall, was 27 year old, literally half his age! 

William assisted Benjamin at the Mills. In 1881 his occupation was given as metal roller. James, who had married Sarah Ann Harvey, was living at 132 Park Road by 1881 where his occupation was listed as Rolling Mill Foreman.

After Benjamin Mason remarried, control of the mills was handed over to his sons James (Jim) and William, which was ratified by an agreement dated March 10th 1882. William continued to live on site at the former family home for a time, but had moved out of 13 Wharf Street by the time the 1891 census was taken the occupier was William F Kennedy, Rolling Mill Clerk and his family. William Mason set up home with his new wife, Henrietta, at 161 Albert Road, Aston. 

William Benjamin Mason died April 20th 1898. Probate was granted at Lichfield to his executors Abraham Terry (Brassfounder) and Stephen Gateley (solicitor) on September 8th 1898. William predeceased his father by a year. Benjamin Mason died at the Firs, Knowle June 6th, 1899. 

These turn of events left the Aston Manor Rolling Mills under the charge of James Mason. A new agreement was drawn up in March 1901 where control was legally transferred to himself and his heirs.  James had to borrow £5100 to pay for his late brothers share in the business, which was secured by a mortgage with Abraham Terry and Stephen Gateley.

James Mason headed the firm for another ten years, but like his brother died relatively young. After a brief illness, James Mason passed away December 16th 1911. He was 54 years old. James was a well- respected businessman and his death left the Rolling Mills with no obvious successor.

The funeral took place the following Tuesday at Aston Parish Church, where James was interred in the family vault. The chief mourners included Howard Mason (son), E.V Tomey and J Terry. The pallbearers (Messr. Bartlam, Millard, Burton, Hough, Duffield and Hickman) were all employees at the Rolling Mills.

Control of the mills now passed to the family of James Mason, which comprised seven daughters and one son. Another son, Benjamin, had been excluded from all benefits in James Masons will by a codicil dated May 26th 1909. 

Their names were as follows: -

Rosina Tomey wife of Edmund Vaughan Tomey, 134 Birchfield Road, Handsworth, Dentist

Edith North, wife of Harry Wilton North, 5 Upper Grosvenor Road

Emily Mason, spinster

Howard Harold Mason, metal roller

Sarah Ann Mason, spinster

Dorothy Mason, spinster

Ellen Mason, spinster

Gladys Mason, spinster, 5 Upper Grosvenor Road.

The role Howard Mason had in the business was apparently only that of shareholder.  He evidently did not assume any role of responsibility. The name of Edith North is mentioned in contemporary legal documents, and is likely that she, Rosina Tomey and Edmund Tomey controlled the firm at this time. Meanwhile arrangements were set in motion, which would eventually lead to the setting up of a public company. 

B Mason & Sons was registered as a private company in March 1915 with a capital of £8000 in £1 shares. The first directors were C Harvey, Mrs E North and E.V Tomey . In order to set up the new company certain funds had to be found to pay off the mortgage taken out by James Mason.

Between 1916 and 1917 the property affairs of B. Mason & Son were gradually sorted out as legal ownership was transferred to the new company.  

New money was put into the firm, at the same time, from the investors who purchased shares. Some of these new investors, such as Isaac Shaw, were to take a greater interest in running the company in later years. To enable the transfer of the business from the family to the new company an inventory of fixed plant was compiled, in 1916. 

It provides a useful description of the scale of operation then carried out at the rolling mills.

The list details contents of loft, warehouse, mill, engine houses, gas engine room, fitting shop, casting shop, yard & wharf, pickle shop and offices. There were a large number of rolls (many described as “chilled” rolls), which would be expected for a rolling mill. These were set up in pairs and it was between these rolls that the metal would be passed to be drawn out. 

It was a process that had changed little since the days of the water mill except that the rolls were now driven by steam power. The engine houses contained a high pressure steam engine; High pressure beam engine 30 HP 20in x 57in cylinders & Low Pressure beam engine 40HP 28in x 60in cylinders. There was also a Gas Engine (9HP, made by Barker) located in an adjacent room. 

Final payments were made to the executors of James Mason in 1917, which then left the way clear for the new order. Thomas Kennedy became the Managing Director. A formal 3-year contract for his services was made in July 1918. 

 ……….

Chapter 7
Business Developments 1917-1988
1917- 1924

The Shaw’s gained control of Benjamin Mason & Sons on September 19th 1917, when the Mason family handed over their share allocation. 

Isaac Shaw was already an established metal manufacturer in Aston, where he traded at 165 Park Lane and 10A Whitehead Road.  Additional premises at 44 High Street, Aston (next to the Malt Shovel PH) were acquired about 1918. 

Masons rolling mill was a useful complement to their existing business. During 1918 Isaac Shaw was granted planning permission to extend the casting shop at the combined Whitehead Road and High Street site no doubt in anticipation of additional business.

For B Mason & Sons, it was a dramatic change where one family control changed for another. The Shaws were to retain ownership of the Aston Manor Rolling Mills until 1988. During that time major alterations to the business lay in store. 

Three generations of the Shaw family were to be involved with the Aston Manor Rolling Mills, as well as running the metal business under the title of Isaac Shaw. They also set up a third business at 165 Park Lane, which became known as Mason’s Nickel Works, which produced nickel silver alloys.

Isaac Shaw Ltd, Metal Rollers of High Street, Aston had been registered as a public company in April 1924.  The capital for the new company was set at £20,000. The two Directors were Isaac Shaw (Chairman) and Leonard Isaac Shaw.  Both men were to run all three concerns, effectively as one. 

For more than twenty years, the day to day business of B Mason and Sons was controlled by three directors; Isaac Shaw, Leonard Isaac Shaw and Thomas Joseph Kennedy, who made all the policy decisions.  

Thomas Kennedy was the manager “on site” and for this responsibility received a percentage of the profits. The Shaw’s continued to concentrate their efforts on the metal business in High Street. Gradually Leonard Shaw began to have an increasing involvement with the Aston Manor Rolling Mills. 

After Isaac Shaw had gained control of the Wharf Street rolling mills, electrical equipment and new plant were installed. Birmingham Corporation also authorised extensions to the rolling mills in May 1920.  Mason’s had taken a portion of the Mitchell & Butler’s property nearest the canal and had extended the yard that faced the canal side and a new casting shop was erected on the side abutting premises belonging to the Eagle Range company. The rolling shop extensions were also made up to the passageway separating Mason’s property from Mitchell & Butler’s.

The average weekly production of rolled metal was 18 tons at this time, but profits varied. Masons customers were a mixed bunch. They included the badge, button trades and the lock and key makers. Some supply contracts gave fewer margins for profit. 

1925-1946

A large contract arranged with Joseph Lucas was one that gave only a small profit. Production also varied with demand, during 1935, for example, contracts began to fall off, but increased in 1936 and 1937. 

By March 1937 the mills were at work five and a half days a week. 1937 was also the year when a new casting shop was built and put to work. Orders again fell off during the winter of 1937 and Isaac Shaw remarked ruefully that there was no immediate prospect of improvement.

Masons continued to use steam power at their rolling mills. They were involved in a dispute with the Birmingham Canal Navigations regarding water supply during 1938. Since the rolling mills were established, water had been taken for the use of the mills. The BCN now looked to make a charge of £30 per year and sought compensation for previous use. The Shaw’s agreed to pay the charge but refused to pay back charges amounting to £100. In February 1939 a replacement boiler was sanctioned.

The Mills were again fully employed as the government of the day geared up for rearmament. Leonard Shaw had been spending more and more time at Masons and gradually took over the duties carried out by Thomas Kennedy. Mr Kennedy’s retirement from the firm was announced at the February 1940 meeting of Directors. He was granted a yearly pension of £308. 

Orders on the books for rolled metal now amounted to 200 tons. To encourage production workers were paid a bonus of one shilling per ton in excess of 18 tons. This bonus was later changed to 2d per ton for every ton of metal produced.   T.J Kennedy also secured a position of Controller with the Non Ferrous Industry. This caused some concern amongst the B Mason Management, which had granted him a pension.

The metal industry saw many changes during the 1920's and 30's, particularly with the use of new technology. There were significant improvements made in rolling mill design and leaders in this field were quick to install the most up to date equipment. The dependence on coal for heating furnaces and generating steam for engine power was also reduced by the greater use of gas and electricity. Electric and gas heating and annealing furnaces were now almost a standard requirement for a rolling mill.

During this time, L I Shaw decided to invest in a Birlec electric annealing furnace at a cost of £2118, to replace a worn out old furnace. The Birmingham based “Birlec” were then a leader in their field making electric furnaces.

Isaac Shaw may have suffered ill health during this period. His signature appears to waver and is absent from several subsequent directors meetings. Dr Wilfred Shaw attended in his place on these occasions. The management of the Shaw Empire was transferred to Leonard Shaw.

Isaac Shaw died on April 3rd 1946, which left Leonard Shaw in effective control of the business. Leonard constantly waived any profit-related benefits, which had been enjoyed by his predecessor at Masons, T. J Kennedy. Whether this was good nature or due to falling profits, is not clear.

1946-1960

Directors meeting continued to be held at Wharf Street, but things were moving on and there would be a time when they would be transferred to High Street, HQ for Isaac Shaw. Modernisation of the plant became an urgent matter. In 1945 Leonard Shaw had remarked that modernisation was needed, as the rolling plant was exceptionally slow. 

New blood was injected into the company with the appointment of the young Kenneth Shaw to the board in December 1953. Kenneth would succeed Leonard as Managing Director after Leonard’s death November 7th, 1959.
When Ken Shaw took over the management of Mason’s as Chairman and Managing Director in November 1959, he had not been involved in the day to day running of the company. He had worked for George Jones (Rolling Mill Manufacturers) and then Isaac Shaw Ltd dealing with sales and purchase of non-ferrous materials and learning the commercial skills of that industry!

After a detailed appraisal of the situation, a clear strategy was decided. Mason’s plant had not really been updated since the remarkable photographs shown in the “Town & Country Illustrated” in 1910. The big greasy train of gears, some 30 feet in diameter, which drove the mills still existed and were mounted in solid oak beams, some 2 feet square in section. It could be said that these would be used if there was a “cobble up” and that they would assist some of the power of the steam engine fly wheel that still existed between the electric drive motor and the mills. (The steam engine had gone, but the flywheel was still there). Some workers could tell if the mills were in production by the vibration from this flywheel felt throughout the factory and offices!

The cross rolling facility (for making spoon and fork blanks for the cutlery trade) still existed taking up over 35% of the floor space. Within 6 months the cross rolling section was closed down. The sales only represented about 2 % of the Company’s output and were loss making. 

A new modern second stage breaking down mill was ordered, which was installed in the corner occupied by the cross rolling. This mill made a dramatic improvement in productivity, quality and reliability.

In the late 1950’s the U.K non-ferrous strip trade was fragmented with 3 major players: ICI (Metals) [later to become IMI metals], Ratcliff GB, Enfield Rolling Mills (part of the Delta Group) and some 40 smaller mills. The majority of these companies were in the Midlands area. There was very little modern plant being installed at these companies, and some companies had plant even older than Masons! 

At the same time most of the companies were members of the Cold Rolled Brass and Copper Association, which gave members a fixed selling price structure. The Monopolies Commission investigated the Association and it was forced to close down. The British Non-Ferrous Metals Federation was established to represent member firms with government and to compile statistics in relation to other national and international production.

The demise of the C.R.B & C.A would lead to a harsh period of competition in the coming years, when mills quoted against each other for orders in periods of low demand. In the next 25 to 30 years an average of one mill would close down each year. Many of these closures were due to a lack of foresight as few took the opportunity to re-equip when selling prices had been high.

Masons identified their long-term future strategy to be high quality, long (heavy weight) coils in phosphor bronze, nickel silver and brass. To be competitive in the future the firm would be required to produce coils of 1-2 tonne weight under tight quality control. A positive stance was to be taken to stop producing low-margin copper strip to clear the way for nickel silver and phosphor bronze. In the late 1950’s the Company’s production of phosphor bronze was less than 3 % (of the total) and nickel silver was less than 1.5%. The target was to increase the combined production of these alloys to 50%.

In the 1950’s quality heavyweight brass coils could only be produced competitively by hot-rolling large 2-5 tonne slabs. A hot rolling facility would involve capital expenditure that was beyond the financial capabilities of the company. However several plans were carefully considered.

Mason’s Nickel Works were located at 165 Park Lane opposite a coal yard. In the late 1950’s all the production of alloys of phosphor bronze, nickel silver and gilding metal took place in a small coke fired foundry in Park Lane, Aston, some half a mile from Mason. Only brass alloys were made at Mason. It was the development of these alloys that were to be the key to Mason’s future. 

The alloys were melted in plumbago crucibles, of only 80-180 lbs in weight, and poured into small cast iron moulds. There was no quality control over metal specification and no method of judging pouring temperature, a critical factor, except the “masters eye”! The finished slabs weighed a little over 20 lbs each and some 100 slabs were needed to make 1 tonne. Production of the alloy was still small and the maximum production was 12 tonnes per week.

IMI, Enfield and Ratcliffe had hot rolling facilities, but most of their plant was of 1940-1950 designs or earlier. Following visits to leading plants in Europe and the Far East it could be seen that most initial expenditure was taking place in MOT pouring equipment (what does this mean) and it was judged that this would not be matched (for reasons of company structures and management attitudes) in the U.K. It was also possible that B Mason & Sons might not be able to continue in business.

The continental firms were planning to produce 20 tonnes un-welded coils of very high quality within 10-15 years. It was decided that Masons purchase part-rolled brass 50% from local sources and 50 % from Europe. This was bought in at 3mm – 6mm in thickness.

1960- 1966

Len Cartwight, who had worked for IMI, came to Masons in 1962 and suggested the idea to bring brass in to re-roll. As it was not possible to hot roll at Masons, it was further decided to pursue and develop the horizontal continuous casting process, which was at the early stages of development at this time at Masons for phosphor bronze and nickel silver alloys. With the on-going development of this process Masons would have the ability to produce long, heavyweight coil to world standards. 

This commenced with concentrating all management and financial resources on high quality plant rolling from 12mm thick to finish size and was the vital decision that insured Mason’s survival in the continuing years.

Mason intended to initiate a long-term program of capital expenditure that would achieve these aims. This was an ambitious target at this time. The Company had no quality control, no metallurgical equipment, no laboratory, and the only testing equipment was in the mill foreman’s office measuring 2 metres x 1 metre. The workforce, at this time was about 100. 

About 1960 it was decided to make a long-term commitment for modernisation. During the next ten years, the rolling mills in Wharf Street would undergo considerable redevelopment and enlargement. 

Part of the plan was to re-equip the rolling mills with machinery designed to meet the demand for speciality lines in copper based non-ferrous strip. The production processes would also have to be flexible to meet the needs of customer demand. The resulting decision to re-equip was also accompanied by other decisions to increase the size of the mills and rationalise the existing business, which was then carried on at three sites. 

Additional space was acquired by the removal of the former public house and cottages in Wharf Street, which had formerly belonged to Mitchells & Butler's Brewery. Although one of the cottages remained occupied arrangements were made to find alternative accommodation. Kenneth Shaw informed his fellow directors at the December 1961 meeting that a house had been purchased for £725 where it was intended to re-house the remaining tenant. The houses were then demolished and the land used to extend the Aston Manor Rolling Mills. 

The strip of land adjoining Tubes Ltd was converted into scrap store. Licence to erect flashing on the side of the scrap store, and overhanging Tubes Ltd property, was granted in 1966.  

It was decided to relocate the nickel business that had been carried on at Mason’s Nickel Works to Wharf Street. It was agreed that B Mason & Sons should purchase the stocks of metal for £2165 and the ingots, crucibles and small tools for additional £600. Ken Shaw should also be paid £2000 for vacating the premises in Park Lane. The personal payment for vacating the premises at Park Lane was later revised and it was decided that Isaac Shaw Ltd should make this payment of £2000 instead.

Isaac Shaw had begun as a supplier of non-ferrous strip and coil to the Brass Stamping Industry commencing business in 1895. Scrap metal was collected by horse and cart and delivered to 165 Park Lane. Later the metal was cast into slabs, but was sent away for rolling to size. Their core business remained that of reclaiming scrap and they had various sites around Birmingham to hold incoming supplies of scrap, notably at railway and canal depots.

1967-

During 1967 plans were put into action, which were to affect both companies. Isaac Shaw Ltd moved their metal merchanting business from High Street, Aston to Anne Road, Smethwick, in July 1967. Here they installed new machinery for the sorting, grading and baling of scrap metal. The majority of their customers were involved in casting, rolling, extrusion and refining of copper–based non-ferrous metal. The rolling mills of B Masons & Sons were included amongst the list of customers.

Benjamin Mason & Sons, at the start of 1967, still had a registered capital of £8,000. At a special EGM held at Lombard House, March 22nd 1967, the shareholders granted permission to increase the capital of the company by £92,000. The new capital of the Company was now set at £100,000, which would provide sufficient funds for new plant. 

Non-ferrous metal production had increased considerably since Ken Shaw had become Managing Director at Mason.  He had brought in a new team to assist this progress. 

Leonard Cartwright, a metallurgist by trade, had been appointed Works Manager and he was largely responsible for re-equipping the rolling mills with machinery that could increase the range of alloys made. 

The Sales Managers, Alan Hughes and Ronald Morton, also played a key role in the company expansion by increasing the sales territory countrywide (WHEN)
Amongst the new equipment supplied during this period was a two-high intermediate rolling mill made by George Jones of Rolfe Street, Smethwick. The Company also invested in a continuous casting machine made by Metatherm GmbH, Vienna, Austria. The continuous casting machine was the first to be installed in Britain and was at the forefront of new technology when installed.

The casting machine was worked in conjunction with an Ajax Wyatt electric induction melting and holding furnace. The set together was used to produce long coils of copper-based strip. The machine cast strips up to 14 inches wide (initially, though only 8" wide), which were automatically cut to length after being run out along a series of guide rollers and then subsequently reformed as coil. By this method the process of intermediate rolling was dispensed with. When the new casting machine was commissioned during October 1969, another important milestone in the Mason history was reached.

Chapter 8
Mason’s Workers

The rolling of metals was labour intensive, particularly those people involved with the casting, rolling and despatch departments. There were some old established practices where the casters paid by the firm would employ an assistant that they would pay out of their own wages. 

Many workers lived locally some were even housed in Portland Street, near the works. Staff employment would undergo a radical change when Mason’s updated their plant and introduced mechanisation throughout.

Mason over the years has an interesting record of people working for the company for many years and often several generations of a family would work for the firm. 

An example was Edwin Cook, a sales representative, who would retire in the 1960’s aged 74, after 60 years of service with the Company (see Birmingham Post). He would often reflect on the “farm” opposite the mill, and the carthorses kept in the stables. He was of a generation that would not leave the office to go down into the rolling mill without putting on his trilby hat, which he kept on a Victorian hat-stand.

The Watts family, all named George, worked for Masons and subsidiary companies, for three generations as foremen. The Mill foreman up to the 1960’s dealt with the responsibilities of Casting Shop Manager, Production Manager, Quality Control, Engineering, Human Resources – hiring and firing-, wage negotiations etc. 

George Watts Senior was never seen without his bowler hat in the hall. 

In the work of bringing Masons up to date many people have dedicated great efforts to the company. 

David Whiley joined Masons from Emery Brothers (a small rolling mill, the Victoria Rolling mills, with more modern plant than Masons, that was to close down) in 1977 and made a significant contribution in several roles, lifting productivity and striking a well thought out balance, satisfying production targets and vitally keeping customers satisfied in times of change.

Roger Bloomer who joined the Company in 1974 has made a tremendous achievement in converting a reluctant and doubting workforce (and sometimes senior staff) of the critical importance of establishing high quality standards in all areas of production. He has used his persuasive manner, metallurgical skills and qualifications to bring the company quality levels to world standards.

Alan Hughes, the only member of staff to be working for Masons when Ken Shaw arrived at Mason’s in 1959 and to be still working there, in Sales, when he retired in 1992. He was a tenacious sales manager who put all his loyal energies into building long term relations between the Company and its Customers.

Ron Morton, who joined Mason in (WHEN) from IMI had considerable knowledge of the non-ferrous strip trade. This was put to good use to build a strong customer connection and in due course started to build up the export trade. He started export trade in Sweden.
Don Westbrook joined Mason in 1976 as an accountant and single-handedly adjusted the financial reporting facility replacing ancient practices to providing fast up-to-date management and financial information, which was essential in the process of change the Company went through. He then led us into information technology era. Masons successful development would not have been achieved without his calm and steadying guidance. He was appointed Finance Director.

Len Cartwright joined the company in 1962 as Works Manager. This was a crucial appointment to enable the process of productivity, wage rates and scheduling to be served. He joined the Company at the age of 56 bringing years of sound metallurgical knowledge and production techniques to the company. He also gave some maturity to a management team who were under 30 years old. Len Cartwright later became Works Director. He was a man who was held in high esteem by his shop floor colleagues and management team.

David Taylor

By the 1970’s having achieved considerable progress in meeting our objectives, it could be seen that if the company was to expand, raise productivity and better the very high standards of consistent quality that would increasingly be demanded by consumers of non-ferrous strip the senior management team would have to be strengthened. To achieve this Ken Shaw was fortunate in being able to appoint David Taylor as Joint Managing Director in 1973.

David brought his skills as a professional manager with engineering qualifications, great knowledge of metallurgy and an excellent knowledge of the ongoing commercial scene in industry. The new team had a most successful partnership until Ken Shaw retired in 1992. Both managing directors enjoyed a stimulating, exciting and successful period working with the new Board after the sale of the company to Wieland on 11 July 1988.  Mr Shaw felt it was a privilege to work with his German colleagues, with Dr Wolfgang Eychmueller as Chairman.

David Taylor became sole Managing Director upon Ken Shaw’s retirement.  Mr. Taylor held this post until his retirement in XXXX whereby he was succeeded by Dr John Jenkins.

The Shareholders

Ken Shaw was fortunate to enjoy the total support of the Company Shareholders and non-executive directors whilst was Chairman of the Company.

During this period the Company undertook many capital expenditure projects for its size and capital base. That this was achieved in a relatively short time gave Masons an important advantage over its competitors.

Chapter 9
Business Expansion 1970- 2001

Benjamin Mason and Sons continued to specialise in Non Ferrous Strip, but expanded their sales area. Traditionally the firm had supplied the needs of the local Birmingham Metal Industry, but now looked for markets much further afield.

The introduction of continuous casting enabled Mason’s to be more competitive.  In 1972 a second continuous casting furnace was installed at the Aston Manor Rolling Mills. Considerable financial success followed with clear benefit to the shareholders. There were also changes in the boardroom; Mr Lancelot David Taylor was appointed joint managing director with Ken Shaw in 1973.  

Whilst the rolling mill business in Aston continued to prosper, various adjoining properties were experiencing the throes of business depression. The cut backs and closures that followed decimated many local firms. Tubes Industries chose to close down its Aston Works releasing the property for future development.

The next stage of development followed in 1985 when the Portland Street Works were purchased from West Midlands County Council. The Portland Street Works had been established as a Range Manufactory, during the 1880’s, but had been absorbed within the Tubes Investments site during the 1950’s. Portland Street Works, which was adjacent to the Aston Manor Mills, provided a much-needed increase in space for Mason’s to increase production.

For Mason’s the next milestone was reached on July 11th, 1988, when the Rolling Mills in Wharf Street were taken over by Wieland Werke AG of Ulm, West Germany.

The year 1988 marked a parting of the way for Isaac Shaw Ltd and Benjamin Mason & Sons. A new company, Isaac Shaw Ltd was registered January 25th, 1988, which was to transfer the Anne Road business to Tamworth. This firm is now a subsidiary of Siegfried, Jacob Metallwerke Gmbh and still continues in business as metal merchants.

B Mason & Sons Ltd had now more than doubled its original site. Another five-year re-equipment plan had been commenced where mechanisation reduced manual labour and virtually enclosed all aspects of the metal rolling process. Further expansion became possible in 1990, when the former Godrich property was acquired from Midland Bright Drawn Steels. Mason’s property now extended the full length of Wharf street. Wieland- Werke can trace its history back to 1820 when the founder, Philipp Jakob Wieland, first advertised his services as a manufacturer of cast brass articles of all kinds at Ulm in the Kingdom of Wurttemberg.

Production was again re-organised where metal scrap is received on the former Godrich Works site. The metal rolling process is then carried on in buildings that extend along Wharf Street. Prior to September 2000 all of this procedure was confined to the range of buildings located on the canal side of Wharf Street, some of which included parts of the old Aston Manor Mills. After sorting and mixing with new metal the appropriate “blend” is fed into one of four melting furnaces, then analysed and poured into the holding furnace/Metatherm Continuous Casting Machines. 

The introduction of semi-continuous casting to Wharf Street in 1969 was to prove a major milestone in the long-term expansion programme initiated by Ken Shaw 10 years before.

This modern casting technique, producing strip 13mm thick, drastically reduced the time, effort, and manpower required to roll down the 45mm thick, statically-cast bar of old, and sounded the death knell for the first and second stage breaking down mills, whereby each bar, weighing approximately 75 Kilos, was individually manhandled into the Mill for each “pass”.

The ability to offer heavyweight, unwelded coils to the myriad of industries using copper-based strip, also gave Masons a major trading advantage over it’s numerous UK competitors

Being restricted only by the limited handling facilities further down the process route, the coils produced at that time weighed between 400 and 500 kilos each.  Coil weights have increased ten-fold since those early days and continuing expansion and investment has realised a near-future capability of processing coils up to ten tonnes in weight. 

In today’s highly-automated operation, each coil is allocated a specific identification code to signify it’s origin and alloy-type, and is subjected to stringent laboratory tests, before leaving the foundry to be processed through a double-sided milling machine to remove any residual surface inclusions or dross.

The first -stage rolling operation is undertaken on a Schmitz “four high” reversing mill, where the coils are mechanically loaded, and rolled backwards and forwards through the work rolls to a stock thickness of 2mm, or to the desired intermediate thickness.

It is then necessary to soften the now work-hardened coils by annealing (heat–treating) to enable further cold working of the metal.

This softening process is carried out in an enclosed furnace, having an oxygen-free atmosphere, which prevents the surface of the hot metal oxidizing or “flaking”.  This process is commonly referred to as “bright annealing”.

The coils are then acid cleaned before being further rolled on a Froehling “four–high” intermediate mill, or a computer-programmable MDS finishing mill, where thicknesses as low as 0.1mm (four thousandths of an inch) are achievable.

Heat treatment and acid cleaning of thinner strip is carried out in one continuous process on a Junker strand-annealing furnace, again in an enclosed oxygen-free atmosphere.

The precisely controlled combination of speed and temperature ensures a high degree of uniformity throughout the annealed strip, critical to component manufacturers in this micro-technological age.

The finish-rolled coils can, if necessary, be processed through a “stretcher-leveller” machine, which mechanically removes stresses formed in the metal during the rolling operation. This proves essential where the material is destined for precision presswork operations.

Finally, the coils are rotary sheared to the specified width and passed to the automatic packing line, where they are banded and palletised, ready for despatch to the customer.

At each stage of production, tests are carried out by the laboratory and inspection department to ensure that the material meets the required mechanical and physical properties. 

The whole production process is highly automated; labour and handling having been minimised by the heavy investment in sophisticated mechanical lifting and feeding equipment.

Further land was purchased between 1994 and 1997, which gave Masons ownership of both sides of Wharf Street and enabled them to enclose the whole street and the bottom part of Portland Street within the Rolling Mill site..

The former Button’s Ltd works had ceased to make buttons by 1972. Since that time several different firms had occupied the vacant buildings. Mason’s decided to demolish these buildings and construct new offices and a distribution section.

The firm presently are manufacturers of precision rolled and sheared strip, rolled phosphor bronze, nickel silver, brass and gilding metal strip, all to fine limits. They also produce leaded brass and leaded nickel silver strip for key blanks 6. The size of the plant is now much larger than that occupied by the Aston Manor Rolling Mills and now comprises 6 adjacent sites: -

Area 1 Original site

Area 2 Portland Street Works from West Midlands County Council

Area 3 Godrich site from Midland Bright Drawn Steels 1990

Area 4 Portland Street (Buttons) site from Waterlinks 1994

Area 5 Aston Precision site from Parkes Machine Tools 1996

Area 6 Wainwright Street from D Cross 1997

The new building was opened in 2000.  Here the finishing processes are conducted. 

Today's operation is a world apart from the labour-intensive, highly-polluting, “metal bashing” factory, founded by Benjamin Mason some one and a half centuries ago, but whose name has more than withstood the test of time for being synonymous with quality and precision.

Chapter 10
Adjacent Properties

The present Mason works now incorporates land that was once occupied by a number of different premises, which were engaged in a mixed bunch of different manufacturing industries. The location itself in Wharf Street is related to a canal purpose and the street name is derived from the coal merchants wharves that were once located in there.  Mason’s original mill was located close to the 9th lock of the Aston Locks that formed part of the Birmingham & Fazeley Canal. 

This waterway formed part of the Birmingham Canal Navigations, which had invested heavily in new waterway construction to link its system with the new coalmines on Cannock Chase. The industrial development of the Wharf Street premises was contemporary with the sinking of these mines. Coal coming from the Cannock Chase Collieries was brought by narrow boats along the Tame Valley Canal to Salford Junction and then up the Aston Locks to Wharf Street.

It was a time when coal was the universal fuel. Coal was used for both domestic and industrial purposes. With industry coal fired the furnaces and heated the boilers to make steam.  Machinery was then principally steam-driven and the steam engine had become essential to the factory. The location of Mason’s mill and the other factories in Wharf Street was thus eminently suited for the trade on the day. In addition to the Aston Manor Rolling Mills, another four works deserve mention. 

Chapter 11
The Phoenix Works

The Thornton Family who was edge tool makers occupied the house at 11 Wharf Street. Next door to their house was the Phoenix Works, which also belonged to the Thorntons. Phoenix was an edge tool manufactory, which was established, it seems, by Joseph Howes, an electroplater from Birmingham. In April 1865, George Thornton and Spencer Eaton (trading as Thornton & Co) completed a lease for the property. The attached schedule refers to a house, mill, workshop, and offices. There was also two steam engine and two boilers.  The Phoenix works was divided into a number of individual shops where the toolmakers worked. Their basic tools comprising hammers and an anvil. Each shop was identified by the name of the man who worked there:

Rabone, Painter, Stephens, Tisdell, Peacock, Maskill, Clare, Humphries, Thornton, Burcot, E.Thornton, Norton, Baggott, Wilson, Wragg and Welletts. 

Interspersed between these tool-making shops were also specific shops for finishing the tools. They include a grinding mill, hardening, glazing, “edge tool” shop, tree makers, spade and spade finishing shop. 

…………….

Speedwell Works

The next factory to Thornton’s Edge Tool works was the Speedwell Works. The 1881 census mentions the factory as “not working”. When the Aston Manor Poor Rate was produced in 1886 the factory was being used as a wire mill in the occupation of Frederick Rawlins. Later the Godrich Family, who continued the wire mill trade, acquired this factory.

There are no records of the Benjamin, James or William Mason, holding any public office, but A.E Godrich was elected councillor for Aston Manor. He was chairman of the Electricity Committee when the power station extensions were commissioned in 1907.

A.E Godrich and Sons produced both iron and steel wire at the factory, which was renamed by Godrich as the Providence Mills. This company was registered as a public company in August 1927. This new company was a merger of A.E Godrich & Co and Archer Stamping Company. J.E Godrich and W.A Lundells became the first directors.

……………

The Button Factory

Benjamin Mason had purchased land opposite his Rolling Mills in 1871 and 1874, which he would later lease and sell on to Thomas and John Mark Carlyle Button Makers. The majority of the land was secured by an indenture dated May 12th 1871, which had been purchased after the land had been advertised by auction in March 1871. The land fronted both Wharf and Portland Street. 

Mason erected a group of houses on Portland Street that later became known as Masons Row. Another piece was purchased in August 1874. The bulk of this land (5399 sq yards) was subsequently leased to the Carlyles in 1884, who purchased the property in 1888. They erected a button manufactory on the land with offices fronting Portland Street. From time to time they enlarged their premises and in June 1891 acquired another piece of land fronting Portland Street, which amounted to 1066 sq yards.

 In 1897, Thomas & John Carlyle decided to sell their family business to a public company, which was registered in March 1897. The new title of the company became Thomas Carlyle & Co Ltd. In addition to the button making factory and offices in Portland Street, the new company acquired Carlyle’s warehouses in London, Leek and property in Bristol. The business continued to expand and in July 1899 Carlyles took over the button making trade carried on by William and John Player at Newhall Street.

Further business expansion led to the establishment of Button Ltd in November 1907. Buttons was formed through the amalgamation of Thomas Carlyle Ltd, Plant Green & Manton and Harrison & Smith. Their aim through the merger was to avoid undue competition and gain increased purchasing power for raw materials.

The Portland Street factory became the principal works and head office. Other works were located in Warstone Lane and Clissold Street. The combine was the largest button-making firm in Birmingham and the British Empire. Portland Street button factory was devoted to the making of every type of button except the linen type. They fulfilled large Army and Navy contracts for military buttons and had machinery to fashion buttons from metal, horn, mother-o’-pearl and ivory. In addition to metal buttons, the firm turned out buckles and chains. B Mason & Sons were regular suppliers of rolled metal to Buttons Ltd.

……………

Eagle Range Foundry 

The original premises, which faced Catherine Street, which included an iron foundry, had been constructed on land leased by George Gordon Brodie in 1884. Brodie and his partner, James Prior, traded as the Eagle Range & Foundry Company. This company was registered in September 1894 and in May 1899 changed its name to the Eagle Range & Gas Stove Company when the adjacent business premises belonging to the Arden Hill & Company Ltd was merged with Eagle Range.

Arden Hill made gas stoves on premises placed between Masons and Eagle Range.  A year later another merger brought Eagle Range and John Wright together as one business. The Eagle Range Foundry was enlarged to encompass the Arden Hill site and was extended along the canal side from Catherine Street to Portland Street. 

Tubes Investments, which owned the Climax Tube Works, had purchased the Hercules Cycle Works in 1947 later also acquired the Eagle Range Foundry. After TI left Aston, the former cycle and tube works were demolished to make way for the new Waterlinks Development. The Portland Street Works passed to Masons.

……………..

The Cross Guns

Another property that also deserves mention is the Cross Guns public house. A group of houses and the public house were placed on the west side of Aston Manor Rolling Mills. Part of this property had been established in the mid 1830’s when Wharf Street was first laid out. Eventually there were four buildings facing Wharf Street. Nos 15, 17 and 19 were houses, whilst 21 was the public house, later known as the Cross Guns. There were also three houses behind of 15-19 Wharf Street that made it a block of 6 “back to back” homes.

The licensee of Cross Guns in 1880 was George Ravenhill, whilst the owner of the land was William Brinsley  .In April 1898 Brinsley sold the public house and the six houses to Henry Charles White of the Central Brewery in Birmingham.  In July 1899, the public house property was sold to Mitchell & Butlers Ltd, of the Cape Hill Brewery.

In May 1918 Mitchells & Butlers sold a strip of land (702 square yards) behind the houses to Benjamin Mason & Sons Ltd, which they used for an extension to their Rolling Mills. Masons later purchased the freehold houses 17, 19 and 21 Wharf Street in 1947 and the properties were demolished to make way for works and office extensions.
…………….
